
 
 
 
 
 
  

 

 
Title 
Prescription n-3 Fatty Acids, But Not Eicosapentaenoic Acid Alone, 
Improve Reference Memory-Related Learning Ability by Increasing Brain-
Derived Neurotrophic Factor Levels in SHR.Cg-Lepr cp/NDmcr rats, A 
Metabolic Syndrome Model 
 
Author(s) 
Michio Hashimoto, Takayuki Inoue, Masanori Katakura, Yoko Tanabe, 
Shahdat Hossain, Satoru Tsuchikura & Osamu Shido 
 
Journal 
Neurochemical Research, Volume 38 
 
Published 
21 August 2013 
 
URL 
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11064-013-1121-1 

 

 
この論文は出版社版でありません。 

引用の際には出版社版をご確認のうえご利用ください。 

島 根 大 学 学 術 情 報 リ ポ ジ ト リ  

S W A N 
Shimane University Web Archives of kNowledge 

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11064-013-1121-1


From: Raghavan, Ramya [Ramya.Raghavan@springer.com]
Sent: Wednesday, August 14, 2013 10:04 AM
To: Spr_corrections2
Subject: RE: Query regarding the article in 11064-1121

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Green
Dear Priya,
 
As per author request change the arƟcle Ɵtle and proceed further.
 
Thank you and regards,
Ramya
‐‐‐‐
Ramya Raghavan 
Springer
Journals ProducƟon
ProducƟon Editor
‐‐‐‐
tel  +91 44 4219 7756
fax +91 44 4219 7757
Ramya.Raghavan@springer.com
www.springer.com
 

From: Raghavan, Ramya
Sent: Tuesday, August 13, 2013 2:32 PM
To: 'Spr_corrections2'
Subject: Query regarding the article in 11064-1121
 
Dear Priya,
 
I have contacted EIC in this regard.
 
Please wait unƟl I get back to you.
 
Thank you and regards,
Ramya
‐‐‐‐
Ramya Raghavan 

file:///Z:/Login/QueryAns/August/Querynew/11064-1121/RE Query regarding the article in 1106...

1 of 2 8/14/2013 2:46 PM



Springer
Journals ProducƟon
ProducƟon Editor
‐‐‐‐
tel  +91 44 4219 7756
fax +91 44 4219 7757
Ramya.Raghavan@springer.com
www.springer.com
 

From: Spr_corrections2 [mailto:Spr_corrections2@sps.co.in]
Sent: Tuesday, August 13, 2013 1:32 PM
To: Raghavan, Ramya
Subject: FW: Query regarding the article in 11064-1121
 
Dear Ramya,
 
We are waiting for your response. Many thanks.
 
Yours Sincerely,
Priya
Springer Correction Team
E-mail: spr_corrections2@sps.co.in
Fax: +91-7305880700 (India)

From: Spr_corrections2
Sent: Saturday, August 10, 2013 8:32 PM
To: Ramya.Raghavan@springer.com
Subject: Query regarding the article in 11064-1121
 
Dear Ramya,
 
Herewith we have attached the author feedback for your reference.  According to author correction, shall we make the changes in article title? Please advise.
 
Many thanks,
 
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

2 of 2 8/14/2013 2:46 PM



RE Proofs for your article in  NEUROCHEMICAL RESEARCH ( 1121 ) First Reminder
From: Michio Hashimoto [michio1@med.shimane-u.ac.jp]
Sent: Monday, August 12, 2013 10:44 AM
To: Spr_corrections2
Subject: RE: Proofs for your article in NEUROCHEMICAL RESEARCH ( 1121 )
[First Reminder]

Dear Sir;

I sent the corrected PDH proof dated Aug. 09, 2013. However, I have found additional errors in it.

Please find the attached new version of corrected proof.

Sincerely yours,

Michio Hashimoto

-----Original Message-----
From: Spr_corrections2@sps.co.in [mailto:Spr_corrections2@sps.co.in]
Sent: Thursday, August 08, 2013 11:46 AM
To: michio1@med.shimane-u.ac.jp
Subject: Proofs for your article in NEUROCHEMICAL RESEARCH ( 1121 ) [First Reminder]

Dear Author,

The message below was sent to you several days ago but we have not yet received your corrections.
Please return your proof as soon as possible so as not to delay the publication of your article.

Yours sincerely,
Springer Corrections Team

PS: This is an auto reminder generated 72 hours after you have received proofs for corrections. Keeping 
in mind the global time difference, you may receive reminders even after you have sent in your 
corrections. If you already have sent us the necessary corrections, kindly ignore this email.

Article Title: PRESCRIPTION N-3 FATTY ACIDS, BUT NOT EICOSAPENTAENOIC ACID 
ALONE, IMPROVE REFERENCE MEMORY-RELATED LEARNING ABILITY BY INCREASING 
BRAIN-DERIVED...
Article DOI: 10.1007/s11064-013-1121-1

Dear Author,

We are pleased to inform you that your paper is nearing publication. The page proofs are available at:

http://springerproof.sps.co.in:8080/oxe_v1/index.php?token=vkXtT47ZQ20de_4Et

Page 1



RE Proofs for your article in  NEUROCHEMICAL RESEARCH ( 1121 ) First Reminder
7X1bw

The URL is valid only until your paper is published online. It is for proof purposes only and may not be 
used by third parties.

The proof shows the paper as it will appear later in print except that: 

The pages are not numbered but the lines are, to ease reference to any passage to be 
corrected.

This proof has been optimized for online presentation.
        This article will appear in Springer's Open Choice program and will be made available with full 
open access.

You can help us facilitate rapid publication by returning the corrected proof of this paper within 2 
working days. Please first read about the proof procedure to learn how to proceed and also to obtain 
information about online publication.

Please ensure you fill out your response to the AUTHOR QUERIES raised (if
any) during the process of typesetting and return this form along with your corrections. Without your 
response to these queries, we may not be able to continue with the processing of your article for Online 
Publication.

In case of difficulties with the proofs, please contact me.

Thank you very much. We hope you are pleased with the publication.

Sincerely yours,

Springer Correction Team

No. 6&7, 5th Street, Radhakrishnan Salai,

Mylapore, Chennai, Tamilnadu                     
India, Pincode 600 004                     
e-mail: spr_corrections2@sps.co.in                 
Fax: +91 73 0588 0700 (or)  +91 44 4208 9499                    

Page 2



Dear Author,

Here are the proofs of your article.

• You can submit your corrections online, via e-mail or by fax.

• For online submission please insert your corrections in the online correction form. Always
indicate the line number to which the correction refers.

• You can also insert your corrections in the proof PDF and email the annotated PDF.

• For fax submission, please ensure that your corrections are clearly legible. Use a fine black
pen and write the correction in the margin, not too close to the edge of the page.

• Remember to note the journal title, article number, and your name when sending your
response via e-mail or fax.

• Check the metadata sheet to make sure that the header information, especially author names
and the corresponding affiliations are correctly shown.

• Check the questions that may have arisen during copy editing and insert your answers/
corrections.

• Check that the text is complete and that all figures, tables and their legends are included. Also
check the accuracy of special characters, equations, and electronic supplementary material if
applicable. If necessary refer to the Edited manuscript.

• The publication of inaccurate data such as dosages and units can have serious consequences.
Please take particular care that all such details are correct.

• Please do not make changes that involve only matters of style. We have generally introduced
forms that follow the journal’s style.
Substantial changes in content, e.g., new results, corrected values, title and authorship are not
allowed without the approval of the responsible editor. In such a case, please contact the
Editorial Office and return his/her consent together with the proof.

• If we do not receive your corrections within 48 hours, we will send you a reminder.

• Your article will be published Online First approximately one week after receipt of your
corrected proofs. This is the official first publication citable with the DOI. Further changes
are, therefore, not possible.

• The printed version will follow in a forthcoming issue.

Please note

After online publication, subscribers (personal/institutional) to this journal will have access to the
complete article via the DOI using the URL: http://dx.doi.org/[DOI].
If you would like to know when your article has been published online, take advantage of our free
alert service. For registration and further information go to: http://www.springerlink.com.

Due to the electronic nature of the procedure, the manuscript and the original figures will only be
returned to you on special request. When you return your corrections, please inform us if you would
like to have these documents returned.

http://www.springerlink.com


Metadata of the article that will be visualized in OnlineFirst

ArticleTitle Prescription n-3 Fatty Acids, But Not Eicosapentaenoic Acid Alone, Improve Reference Memory-Related
Learning Ability by Increasing Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor Levels in SHR.Cg-Lepr  cp /NDmcr rats

Article Sub-Title

Article CopyRight The Author(s)
(This will be the copyright line in the final PDF)

Journal Name Neurochemical Research

Corresponding Author Family Name Hashimoto
Particle

Given Name Michio
Suffix

Division Department of Environmental Physiology

Organization Shimane University Faculty of Medicine

Address Izumo, Shimane, 693-8501, Japan

Email michio1@med.shimane-u.ac.jp

Author Family Name Inoue
Particle

Given Name Takayuki
Suffix

Division Department of Environmental Physiology

Organization Shimane University Faculty of Medicine

Address Izumo, Shimane, 693-8501, Japan

Email

Author Family Name Katakura
Particle

Given Name Masanori
Suffix

Division Department of Environmental Physiology

Organization Shimane University Faculty of Medicine

Address Izumo, Shimane, 693-8501, Japan

Email

Author Family Name Tanabe
Particle

Given Name Yoko
Suffix

Division Department of Environmental Physiology

Organization Shimane University Faculty of Medicine

Address Izumo, Shimane, 693-8501, Japan

Email

Author Family Name Hossain
Particle

Given Name Shahdat
Suffix

橋本
Highlight

橋本
Sticky Note
rats, A Metabolic Syndrome Model



Division Department of Environmental Physiology

Organization Shimane University Faculty of Medicine

Address Izumo, Shimane, 693-8501, Japan

Division Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology

Organization Jahangirnagar University

Address Savar, Dhaka, Bangladesh

Email

Author Family Name Tsuchikura
Particle

Given Name Satoru
Suffix

Division

Organization Disease Model Cooperative Research Association

Address Hamamatsu, Shizuoka, 433-8114, Japan

Email

Author Family Name Shido
Particle

Given Name Osamu
Suffix

Division Department of Environmental Physiology

Organization Shimane University Faculty of Medicine

Address Izumo, Shimane, 693-8501, Japan

Email

Schedule

Received 19 January 2013

Revised 24 July 2013

Accepted 30 July 2013

Abstract Metabolic syndrome is implicated in the decline of cognitive ability. We investigated whether the prescription
n-3 fatty acid administration improves cognitive learning ability in SHR.Cg-Lepr  cp /NDmcr (SHR-cp) rats,
a metabolic syndrome model, in comparison with administration of eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA, C22:5, n-3)
alone. Administration of TAK-085 [highly purified and concentrated n-3 fatty acid formulation containing
EPA ethyl ester and docosahexaenoic acid (C22:6, n-3) ethyl ester] at 300 mg/kg body weight per day for
13 weeks reduced the number of reference memory-related errors in SHR-cp rats, but EPA alone had no
effect, suggesting that long-term TAK-085 administration improves cognitive learning ability in a rat model
of metabolic syndrome. However, the working memory-related errors were not affected in either of the rat
groups. TAK-085 and EPA administration increased plasma EPA and DHA levels of SHR-cp, associating
with an increase in EPA and DHA in the cerebral cortex. The TAK-085 administration decreased the lipid
peroxide levels and reactive oxygen species in the cerebral cortex and hippocampus of SHR-cp rats,
suggesting that TAK-085 increases antioxidative defenses. Its administration also increased the brain-derived
neurotrophic factor levels in the cortical and hippocampal tissues of TAK-085-administered rats. The present
study suggests that long-term TAK-085 administration is a possible therapeutic strategy for protecting against
metabolic syndrome-induced learning decline.

Keywords (separated by '-') Metabolic syndrome - Memory - BDNF - Docosahexaenoic acid - Eicosapentaenoic acid

Footnote Information

M Katakura
ハイライト表示
(DHA, C22:6, n-3)

M Katakura
ハイライト表示
C20:5



U
N
C
O
R
R
E
C
T
E
D
P
R
O
O
F

ORIGINAL PAPER1

2 Prescription n-3 Fatty Acids, But Not Eicosapentaenoic Acid

3 Alone, Improve Reference Memory-Related Learning Ability

4 by Increasing Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor Levels

5 in SHR.Cg-Leprcp/NDmcr rats

6 Michio Hashimoto • Takayuki Inoue • Masanori Katakura • Yoko Tanabe •

7 Shahdat Hossain • Satoru Tsuchikura • Osamu Shido

8 Received: 19 January 2013 / Revised: 24 July 2013 / Accepted: 30 July 2013
9 � The Author(s) 2013. This article is published with open access at Springerlink.com

10 Abstract Metabolic syndrome is implicated in the decline

11 of cognitive ability. We investigated whether the prescrip-

12 tion n-3 fatty acid administration improves cognitive

13 learning ability in SHR.Cg-Leprcp/NDmcr (SHR-cp) rats, a

14 metabolic syndrome model, in comparison with adminis-

15 tration of eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA, C22:5, n-3) alone.

16 Administration of TAK-085 [highly purified and concen-

17 trated n-3 fatty acid formulation containing EPA ethyl ester

18 and docosahexaenoic acid (C22:6, n-3) ethyl ester] at

19 300 mg/kg body weight per day for 13 weeks reduced the

20 number of reference memory-related errors in SHR-cp rats,

21 but EPA alone had no effect, suggesting that long-term

22 TAK-085 administration improves cognitive learning abil-

23 ity in a rat model of metabolic syndrome. However, the

24 working memory-related errors were not affected in either

25 of the rat groups. TAK-085 and EPA administration

26 increased plasma EPA and DHA levels of SHR-cp, asso-

27 ciating with an increase in EPA and DHA in the cerebral

28 cortex. The TAK-085 administration decreased the lipid

29 peroxide levels and reactive oxygen species in the cerebral

30 cortex and hippocampus of SHR-cp rats, suggesting that

31 TAK-085 increases antioxidative defenses. Its administra-

32 tion also increased the brain-derived neurotrophic factor

33levels in the cortical and hippocampal tissues of TAK-085-

34administered rats. The present study suggests that long-term

35TAK-085 administration is a possible therapeutic strategy

36for protecting against metabolic syndrome-induced learning

37decline.

38

39Keywords Metabolic syndrome �Memory � BDNF �

40Docosahexaenoic acid � Eicosapentaenoic acid

41Abbreviations

42Ab Amyloid b

43AA Arachidonic acid

44BDNF Brain-derived neurotrophic factor

45DHA Docosahexaenoic acid

46DPA Docosapentaenoic acid

47EPA Eicosapentaenoic acid

48LPO Lipid peroxide

49LTP Long-term potentiation

50PUFA Polyunsaturated fatty acid

51RME Reference memory error

52ROS Reactive oxygen species

53SHR-cp SHR.Cg-Leprcp/NDmcr

54TBARS Thiobarbituric acid reactive substance

55WME Working memory error

56
57

58Introduction

59Metabolic syndrome as a whole and several of its com-

60ponents have a negative impact on cognitive function [1, 2]

61in elderly individuals who are usually vulnerable to age-

62related neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer’s

63disease [3] and vascular dementia [4]. Epidemiological

64studies support that modifiable vascular and lifestyle-
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65 related factors are associated with the development of

66 dementia and predementia syndromes in late life, and these

67 studies identified multiple potentially preventable risk

68 factors [5]. In particular, vascular-related factors such as

69 high blood pressure and hypertension, total cholesterol and

70 other lipid parameters, diabetes and insulin resistance,

71 body mass index, obesity, and metabolic syndrome have

72 been associated with dementia and cognitive decline [6, 7].

73 Thus, people with metabolic syndrome are more likely to

74 experience decline in memory than those without the

75 syndrome. Because metabolic syndrome and its compo-

76 nents are potentially modifiable, it would be possible for

77 treatment to prevent cognitive decline, and thus prevent

78 dementia.

79 Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA, C22:6, n-3) and eicosa-

80 pentaenoic acid (EPA, C20:5, n-3) are the primary n-3

81 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) in fish oil. Epidemi-

82 ological studies revealed that fish oil intake is associated

83 with reduced risk of neurological and psychiatric disorders.

84 In addition, van Gelder et al. [8] examined cognitive

85 decline over a 5-year period and reported that increase in

86 fish consumption and DHA ? EPA intake are both asso-

87 ciated with reduction in cognitive decline. Moreover, fish

88 consumption and n-3 PUFA intake are associated with

89 reduced risk of cognitive decline and dementia [9]. It has

90 been very recently reported that daily DHA and EPA

91 supplementation has beneficial effects against age-related

92 cognitive decline in otherwise health elderly Japanese

93 individuals with very mild dementia [10]. These findings

94 suggest that increased consumption of n-3 PUFAs is

95 associated with reduced risk of age-related cognitive

96 decline, dementia, and Alzheimer’s disease.

97 Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) is one of the primary

98 essential fatty acids in the human brain, and it is present at

99 very high concentrations in neural synaptosomal plasma

100 membranes and synaptic vesicles. DHA accrues in the

101 developing brain during the brain growth spurt [11], and

102 DHA deficiency impairs memory and learning and promotes

103 age-related neurodegenerative diseases [12]. AlthoughDHA

104 is essential for various neural functions, the DHA biosyn-

105 thetic pathway does not produce the amount of DHA

106 required for normal brain functioning. Because vertebrates

107 do not have adequate metabolic capacity to insert double

108 bonds in the appropriate positions, they are dependent on the

109 diet to supply this fatty acid. These results have raised the

110 possibility whether administration of the DHA precursor,

111 i.e., EPA, could purposefully be used for the expected neu-

112 robehavioral outcome of DHA. The dietary supplementation

113 of DHA ameliorates the learning-related spatial memory of

114 rats [13–16]. Moreover, EPA administration increased neu-

115 ronal and glial EPA content and glial DHA content, sug-

116 gesting that EPA may protect against neurodegeneration by

117 modulating synaptic plasticity [17]. In addition, dietary EPA

118administration increases the DHA levels and the DHA/ara-

119chidonic acid (AA) ratio in the plasma and brain tissues of

120normal or amyloid b (Ab)-infused rats in association with

121decrease in oxidative stress [18]. From these results, it is

122demonstrated that EPA and/or DHA could be used to prevent

123memory deficits.

124In this study, using SHR.Cg-Leprcp/NDmcr (SHR-cp)

125rats, a metabolic syndrome model, we investigated whether

126the prescription administration of n-3 fatty acids (TAK-

127085: highly purified and concentrated EPA and DHA ethyl

128esters) or EPA alone improve cognitive learning ability in

129rats with metabolic abnormalities. Spontaneously hyper-

130tensive rats (SHR) exhibit impaired performance of both

131spatial and nonspatial learning and memory-related task

132[19–21]. SHR-cp rats derived from SHR spontaneously

133develop obesity, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, hypergly-

134cemia, and hyperinsulinemia, i.e., metabolic syndrome [22,

13523]. Metabolic syndrome might also impose a serious

136metabolic threat to brain activities such as the process of

137learning that encodes for memory. Thus, this rat model

138appears well suited for assessing the changes induced by

139broad metabolic abnormalities and the development of

140memory loss. We finally evaluated whether TAK-085

141affects memory-related spatial task and the underlying

142mechanisms.

143Materials and Methods

144Five-week-old male SHR-cp rats were supplied by the Dis-

145ease Model Cooperative Research Association (Kyoto,

146Japan). The rats were housed in an air-conditioned animal

147room with a 12:12-h dark:light cycle under controlled tem-

148perature (23 ± 2 �C) and relative humidity (50 ± 10 %).

149After acclimatization, they were randomly divided into three

150groups–the control rats (n = 11), TAK-085-treated rats

151(n = 11), and EPA-treated rats (n = 11). The rats were

152provided with a high cholesterol-containing diet pellet (a

153standard F1 pellet containing no fish products and including

1541 % cholesterol and 0.3 % cholic acid; Funabashi Farm,

155Funabashi, Japan; Table 1) and water ad libitum. All animal

156experiments were performed in accordance with the proce-

157dures outlined in theGuidelines for Animal Experimentation

158of Shimane University compiled from the Guidelines for

159Animal Experimentation of the Japanese Association for

160Laboratory Animal Science. The TAK-085-treated rats

161(n = 11) were orally administered TAK-085 (300 mg/kg

162body weight per day: Pronova BioPharma ASA, Oslo, Nor-

163way) containing 498 mg/g EPA, 403 mg/g DHA, and

1644.8 mg/g a-tocopherol suspended in 5 % gum Arabic solu-

165tion for 13 weeks; EPA rats were administered EPA-E

166(300 mg/kg body weight per day; Nisshin Pharma Inc.,

167Tokyo, Japan) containing 980 mg/g EPA and 1.9 mg/g
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168 a-tocopherol suspended in 5 % gum Arabic solution for

169 13 weeks; and control rats were administered 5 % gum

170 Arabic solution containing 4.8 mg/g a-tocopherol for

171 13 weeks. TAK-085 and EPA were gently emulsified in a

172 5 % gum Arabic solution in an ultrasonic cell homogenizer

173 (Taitec VP-5; Taitec, Tokyo, Japan) immediately before

174 administration. Administration was maintained until all

175 experiments had been completed.

176 Eight-Arm Radial Maze Task

177 Seven weeks after the start of TAK-085/EPA administra-

178 tion, the rats’ learning-related behavior was assessed by

179 their completion of a task in an eight-arm radial maze as

180 previously described [13, 15]. The rats were placed on a

181 food deprivation regimen that reduced their body weight to

182 70–75 % of the free-feeding weight and were handled for

183 5 min daily for 5 consecutive days. The radial maze was

184 placed in a closed room with a number of visual cues:

185 fluorescent ceiling lights, curtained door, a chair for the

186 observer and some boxes. The experimenter maintained a

187 constant position beside the maze and observed the

188 behavior of the rats. Then for 5 days, the rats were famil-

189 iarized with the apparatus in which 45-mg reward pellets

190 (made with F1) were scattered throughout the maze. Each

191 rat was tested by two daily trials for 6 days/week for a total

192of 5 weeks. The trial consisted of baiting only four of the

193arms (consistently the same arm for any one animal) with

194reward pellets and placing the rat in the center of the

195platform facing a randomly selected arm. Two parameters

196of memory function were examined—(1) reference mem-

197ory error (RME), determined by the number of entries into

198the unbaited arms, and (2) working memory error (WME),

199estimated by the number of repeated entries into arms that

200had already been visited during the trial. Memory-related

201behavior was calculated on the basis of the performance in

202the maze arms.

203Sample preparation

204After completing the behavioral studies, the rats were

205anesthetized with sodium pentobarbital (65 mg/kg BW,

206intraperitoneally), blood was collected, and the cerebral

207cortex and hippocampus were separated as described pre-

208viously [15]. The tissues were stored at -80 �C by flash-

209freezing in liquid N2 until use or immediately homogenized

210in ice-cold 0.32-mol/L sucrose buffer (pH 7.4) containing

2112-mmol/L EDTA, 0.5-mg/L leupeptin, 0.5-mg/L pepstatin,

2120.5-mg/L aprotinin, and 0.2-mmol/L phenylmethylsulfonyl

213fluoride using a Polytron homogenizer (PCU 2–110; Ki-

214nematica). The homogenates were immediately subjected

215to additional assays or stored at -80 �C after a liquid N2

216flash and bath until use.

Table 1 Components of a high-

cholesterol diet and TAK-085

profiles

DHA docosahexaenoic acid, EE

ethyl ester, EPA

eicosapentaenoic acid, ND not

detected

The high-cholesterol diet, which

is the standard F1 diet

containing no fish products,

contained 1 % cholesterol and

0.3 % cholic acid, and it was

purchased from Funabashi

Farm, Chiba, Japan

HC diet Profiles of TAK-085

Composition of the diet (%, w/w) Eicosapentaenoic acid C20:5(n-3) (EE) (mg/g) 462

Water 8.0 Docosahexaenoic acid C22:6(n-3) (EE) (mg/g) 367

Crude protein 21.5 EPA and DHA (mg/g) 829

Fat 4.4 Docosapentaenoic acid C22:5(n-3) (%, w/w) 3.3

Fiber 2.6 Total n-3 (EE) (%, w/w) 90

Mineral 4.9 Arachidonic acid C20:4(n-6) (EE) (%, w/w) 2.4

Carbohydrate 58.6 Docosapentaenoic acid C22:5(n-6) (%, w/w) 1.0

Cholesterol 1.0 a-Tocopherol (mg/g) 3.9

Cholic acid 0.3

Fatty acid composition (g/kg)

Myristic acid C14:0 0.034

Palmitic acid C16:0 5.83

Palmitoleic acid C16:1(n-7) ND

Stearic acid C18:0 2.24

Oleic acid C18:1(n-9) 8.57

Linoleic acid C18:2(n-6) 21.5

Linolenic acid C18:3(n-3) 2.21

Arachidonic acid C20:4(n-6) ND

Eicosapentaenoic acid C20:5(n-3) ND

Docosapentaenoic acid C22:5(n-3) ND

Docosahexaenoic acid C22:6(n-3) ND

Lignoceric acid C24:0 0.055
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217 Measurement of Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor

218 (BDNF)

219 The whole homogenate was centrifuged at 13,000 9 g for

220 30 min, and the resulting supernatant was used for BDNF

221 assays. BDNF was quantified using an enzyme-linked

222 immunosorbent assay kit (BDNF Emax ImmunoAssay

223 System kit, Promega Inc., Madison, WI) according to the

224 manufacturer’s protocol. The BDNF levels were calculated

225 in pg/mg of cytosolic protein and reported as % of control.

226 Measurement of Oxidative Stress and Fatty Acid

227 Profiles

228 Reactive oxygen species (ROS) levels were determined as

229 described previously by Hashimoto et al. [14]. In brief,

230 50 lL of freshly prepared tissue homogenate were mixed

231 with 4.85 mL of 100-mmol/L potassium phosphate buffer

232 (pH 7.4) and incubated with 2070-dichlorofluorescin diace-

233 tate in methanol at a final concentration of 5 lmol/L for

234 15 min at 37 �C. The dye-loaded samples were centrifuged

235 at 12,5009g for 10 min at 4 �C. The pellet was mixed on a

236 vortex at 0 �C in 5 mL of 100-mmol/L phosphate buffer

237 (pH 7.4) and incubated again for 60 min at 37 �C. Fluo-

238 rescence was measured with a Hitachi 850 spectrofluo-

239 rometer (Tokyo, Japan) at wavelengths of 488 nm for

240 excitation and 525 nm for emission. The cuvette holder

241 was maintained at 37 �C. ROS was quantified using a

242 dichlorofluorescein standard curve in methanol.

243 Lipid peroxide (LPO) concentrations were assessed by

244 the thiobarbituric acid reactive substance (TBARS) assay,

245as described previously [14]. The TBARS levels were

246measured in nanomoles of malondialdehyde/per mg pro-

247tein. Malondialdehyde levels were calculated relative to a

248standard preparation of 1,1,3,3-tetraethoxypropane.

249The fatty acid compositions of plasma and brain tissues

250were determined using a modification of the one-step

251reaction of Lepage and Roy [24] by gas chromatograpy as

252described previously [14]. Protein concentrations were

253estimated by the method of Lowry et al. [25].

254Statistical analysis

255Results are expressed as mean ± SEM. Behavioral data

256were analyzed by a two-factor (group and block) randomized

257block factorial ANOVA, and all other parameters were

258analyzed for intergroup differences by one-way ANOVA.

259ANOVA was followed by Fisher’s PLSD for post hoc

260comparisons. Correlations were determined by simple

261regression analysis. The statistical programs used were GB-

262STATTM 6.5.4 (Dynamic Microsystems) and Stat-View�

2634.01 (MindVision Software, Abacus Concepts). Differences

264with P\ 0.05 were considered significant.

265Results

266Body Weight

267Final body weights did not differ among the three groups

268(control group: 489 ± 9 g; TAK-085: 496 ± 5 g; EPA:

269500 ± 4 g).

(A) (B)

Fig. 1 Effect of long-term TAK-085 and EPA administration on the

reference (a) and working (b) memory-related learning ability of the

SHR-cp rats in the radial maze task. (filled circle) Control rats

(n = 11); (filled triangle) TAK-085-treated rats (n = 11); (open

triangle) EPA-treated rats (n = 11). Each value represents the

number of RMEs and WMEs as the mean ± SEM in each block of

six trials. The main effects of the blocks of trial and groups are

indicated in the ‘‘Results’’ section. The significance of the differences

among the three groups was determined by randomized two-factor

(block and group) ANOVA followed by the Bonferroni post hoc test.

Groups without a common alphabet for the main effects of groups are

significantly different at P\ 0.05. Details of the subtest analysis

between the two groups of the main effects of blocks of trials, groups,

and block 9 group interaction are indicated in Table 2
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270 Effect of TAK-085 and EPA Administration on

271 Radial-Maze Learning Ability

272 The effects of long-term administration of TAK-085 and

273 EPA alone on reference and working memory-related

274 learning abilities are presented as the mean number of RMEs

275 andWMEs for each group with data averaged over blocks of

276 six trials in the Fig. 1a, b, respectively. Randomized two-

277 factor (block and group)ANOVA revealed a significantmain

278 effect of both groups (F2,20 = 5.97, P = 0.009) and blocks

279 of trials (F6,60 = 35.52, P\ 0.001) with a significant

280 group 9 block interaction (F12,120 = 1.85, P = 0.047) on

281 the number of RMEs (Fig. 1a). Regarding the WMEs

282 (Fig. 1b), randomized two-factor (block and group)

283 ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of both groups

284 (F2,20 = 4.07, P = 0.033) and blocks of trials (F6,60 =

285 29.20, P\ 0.001) without a significant group 9 block

286 interaction (F12,120 = 0.709, P = 0.740).

287Subtest analyses (Table 2) of the RMEs and WMEs

288revealed the effect of TAK-085 or EPA on SHR-cp rats.

289Subtest analysis revealed a significant effect of TAK-085 on

290control rats [RMEs: groups (P = 0.026) and blocks of trials

291(P\ 0.001) with a tendency of significant group 9 block

292interaction (P = 0.052); WMEs: groups (P = 0.047) and

293blocks of trials (P\ 0.001) but without a significant

294group 9 block interaction (P = 0.547)]. These analyses

295demonstrated that the number of RMEs, but not WMEs, ten-

296ded to be significantly lower in the TAK-085-administered

297rats than in the control rats (Fig. 1).Whereas, subtest analysis

298revealed no significant effect of EPA on control rats [RMEs:

299groups (P = 0.726) and blocks of trials (P\ 0.001)without a

300significant group 9 block interaction (P = 0.128); WMEs:

301groups (P = 0.056) and blocks of trials (P\ 0.001) but

302without a significant group 9 block interaction (P = 0.518)].

303These analyses demonstrated that there were no statistically

304significant differences in the number of RMEs and WMEs

Table 2 Results of the two-factor ANOVA and PLSD test conducted on RME and WME data obtained from the control (n = 11), TAK-085-

treated (n = 11), and EPA-treated (n = 11) groups

Group Block Group 9 Block

Reference memory error

Control versus TAK-085 0.026 [F(1, 10) = 6.85] \0.001 [F(6,60) = 17.62] 0.052 [F(6,60) = 2.23]

Control versus EPA 0.726 [F(1, 10) = 0.13] \0.001 [F(6,60) = 28.77] 0.128 [F(6,60) = 1.74]

TAK-085 versus EPA 0.012 [F(1,10) = 9.31] \0.001 [F(6,60) = 41.01] 0.140 [F(6,60) = 1.69]

Working memory error

Control versus TAK-085 0.047 [F(1,10) = 5.14] \0.001 [F(6,60) = 16.05] 0.549 [F(6,60) = 0.833]

Control versus EPA 0.056 [F(1,10) = 4.68] \0.001 [F(6,60) = 18.54] 0.518 [F(6,60) = 0.876]

TAK-085 versus EPA 0.836 [F(1,10) = 0.045] \0.001 [F(6,60) = 22.33] 0.937 [F(6,60) = 0.937]

These data are also presented in Fig. 1

(A) (B)

Fig. 2 Effect of long-term TAK-085 and EPA administration on the

levels of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) levels in the

cerebral cortex (a) and hippocampus (b) of the control, EPA-treated,

and TAK-085-treated rats. Data are presented as the mean ± SEM.

(shaded square), Control rats (n = 11); (open squre), EPA-treated

rats (n = 11); (filled square), TAK-085-treated rats (n = 11). Bars

without a common alphabet are significantly different at P\ 0.05.

Data were analyzed by one-way ANOVA followed by Fisher’s PLSD

post hoc for multiple comparisons
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305 between the EPA-treated rats and the control rats (Fig. 1).

306 Subtest analysis also revealed no significant differences

307 between the TAK-085- and EPA-treated rats regarding RMEs

308 and WMEs [RMEs: groups (P = 0.012) and blocks of trials

309 (P\ 0.001) without a significant group 9 block interaction

310 (P = 0.140),WMEs: groups (P = 0.836) and blocks of trials

311 (P\ 0.001) without a significant group 9 block interaction

312 (P = 0.937)]. These analyses demonstrated that there was no

313 significant difference in the number of RMEs and WMEs

314 between the TAK-085- and EPA-treated rats (Fig. 1). These

315 results finally suggest that long-term administration of TAK-

316 085, but not EPA alone, improved reference memory-related

317 learning ability but not working memory-related learning

318 ability in the SHR-cp rats.

319 Effect on BDNF

320 The BDNF levels in the TAK-085 rats were increased by

321 15 % (F1,20 = 7.22, P = 0.014) in the cerebral cortex

322 (Fig. 2a) and by 34 % (F1,20 = 12.05, P = 0.0027) in the

323 hippocampus (Fig. 2b) compared to those in control rats.

324 There were no statistical significant differences in the

325 cerebrocortical and hippocampal BDNF levels between the

326 control and EPA-treated rats and between the EPA- and

327 TAK-085-treated rats (Fig. 2).

328 Oxidative Stress in the Plasma and Brain

329 Plasma LPO levels were significantly lower in the EPA- and

330 TAK-085-treated rats than in the control rats, but no statis-

331 tical significance was found between the EPA- and TAK-

332 085-treated rats (F2,30 = 11.62, P = 0.0002) (Fig. 3a). The

333 LPO levels in the cortexwere significantly lower in theTAK-

334 085-treated rats (F1,20 = 6.32, P = 0.02) than in the control

335 rats; however, there was no statistical significant difference

336 between the EPA-treated and control rats (Fig. 3b). The LPO

337levels in the hippocampus were significantly lower in the

338EPA- and TAK-085-treated rats than in the control rats

339(F2,30 = 22.49, P\ 0.0001), but there was no significant

340difference between the EPA- and TAK-085-treated rats

341(Fig. 3c).

342The ROS levels were 31 and 32 % lower in the cerebral

343cortices of EPA- and TAK-085-treated rats, respectively

344(F2,30 = 6.4, P = 0.0048) (Fig. 4a), and 38 and 39 %

345lower, respectively (F2,30 = 11.69, P = 0.0001) in the

346hippocampus (Fig. 4b) than those of the control rats. There

347were no statistically significant differences in the ROS

348levels in the cerebral cortex and hippocampus between the

349EPA- and TAK-085-treated rats.

350Plasma and Brain Fatty Acid Profiles

351The plasma fatty acid profiles of the rats are shown in

352Table 3. The plasma levels of EPA, DHA and docosapen-

353taenoic acid [DPA, C22:5(n-3)] were significantly higher in

354both the TAK-085- and EPA-treated rats than in the control

355rats, but those of AA were significantly lower in the TAK-

356085- and EPA-treated rats than in the control rats. The

357plasma EPA and DPA levels were significantly higher in the

358EPA-treated rats than in the TAk-085-treated rats, and the

359DHA levels were higher in the TAK-085-treated rats than in

360the EPA-treated rats. The plasma DHA levels were signifi-

361cantly higher in the TAK-085-treated rats than in both the

362EPA-treated and control rats; similarly, the DHA levels

363(P = 0.0835) tended to be higher in the EPA-treated rats

364than in the control rats. The plasma levels of stearic acidwere

365significantly higher in the TAK-085- and EPA-treated rats

366than in the control rats, but its levels did not differ between

367the TAK-085- and EPA-treated rats. TAK-085 and EPA

368administration significantly increased the plasma DHA/AA

369molar ratio; however, their administration did not affect the

(A) (B) (C)

Fig. 3 Effect of long-term TAK-085 and EPA administration on the

lipid peroxide (LPO) levels in the plasma (a), cerebral cortex (b) and

hippocampus (c) of the SHR-cp rats. Data are presented as the

mean ± SEM. (shaded square) Control rats (n = 11); (open squre)

EPA-treated rats (n = 11); (filled square) TAK-085-treated rats

(n = 11). Bars without a common alphabet are significantly different

at P\ 0.05. Data were analyzed by one-way ANOVA followed by

Fisher’s PLSD post hoc for multiple comparisons
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370 plasma levels of palmitic acid, oleic acid, linoleic acid, or

371 linolenic acid.

372 The major fatty acid profiles in the rat cerebral cortex and

373 hippocampus are shown in Table 4. The EPA and DHA

374 levels in the cerebral cortex were significantly higher in both

375 the TAK-085- and EPA-treated rats than in the control rats,

376 but theAA levels did not differ, causing a significant increase

377 in the DHA/AA molar ratio in the cerebral cortex. EPA

378 administration significantly increased the hippocampal EPA

379 levels compared with those in the control rats, whereas the

380 hippocampal EPA levels (P = 0.0792) tended to be higher in

381 TAK-085-treated rats than in the control rats. TAK-085 and

382 EPA administration did not affect the DHA and AA levels in

383 the hippocampus.

384 Correlation Between Cognitive Function,

385 Corticohippocampal BDNF Levels and the DHA/AA

386 Molar Ratio

387 To define the relationship of learning and memory with the

388 BDNF levels, we assessed the correlation between perfor-

389 mance in the radial arm maze and the BDNF levels and the

390 molar DHA/AA ratios in corticohippocampal tissues.

391 Regression analyses revealed significant positive correla-

392 tions between the BDNF levels and the DHA/AA molar

393 ratios in both the cortex (r2 = 0.170, P = 0.024) (Fig. 5a)

394 and hippocampus (r2 = 0.140, P = 0.045) (Fig. 5c) and

395 negative correlations between the number of RMEs in the

396 final block of the radial maze task and the BDNF levels in

397 both the cerebral cortex (r2 = 0.328, P\ 0.001) (Fig. 5b)

398 and hippocampus (r2 = 0.164, P = 0.027) (Fig. 5d). In

399 addition, when all the corticohippocampal data were ana-

400 lyzed, the DHA/AA molar ratio was negatively correlated

401 with the numbers of RMEs in the final block of the

402 radial maze task (r2 = 0.148, P = 0.0017), the cortico-

403hippocampal LPO levels (r2 = 0.155, P = 0.0013) and the

404corticohippocampal ROS levels (r2 = 0.232, P\ 0.0001).

405Discussion

406This study examined the effect of n-3 PUFA administra-

407tion, including differences in the quantity of EPA and

408DHA, on the learning processes and memory in SHR-cp

409rats and the plausible underlying mechanism of actions

410with an emphasis on EPA and DHA partitioning in the

411plasma as well as the cerebral cortex and hippocampus, the

412most important brain regions responsible for memory for-

413mation. There were significant differences in sensitivity

414and n-3 PUFA-induced changes in the learning-related

415memory ability of the SHR-cp rats.

416In this study, TAK-085 containing 50 % EPA and 40 %

417DHA had a more pronounced influence on reference mem-

418ory-related learning ability than EPA alone. EPA comprises

419only a small amount of total PUFAs in the brain compared to

420the DHA levels (Table 4). The EPA levels were increased in

421the cortex and hippocampus of EPA- and TAK-085-treated

422SHR-cp rats, although the total levels (i.e. even after

423increase) remained very low compared to the DHA levels.

424This increase could not be attributed to a metabolic con-

425version from a-linolenic acid because the levels of this fatty

426acid were not altered in the cortex or hippocampus of EPA-

427or TAK 085-treated rats (data not shown). Rather, this

428increase may be attributable to retroconversion from DHA

429via DPA. Thus, the question is whether the magnitude of

430increase in the EPA levels (0.1–0.3/0.3 in the cortex or

4310.3–0.5/0.4 in the hippocampus) can be explained by EPA-

432induced alterations in the molecular composition/systems of

433corticohippocampal neurons and the resultant spatial cog-

434nition. Long-term administration of EPA ameliorated the

(A) (B)

Fig. 4 Effect of oral TAK-085 and EPA administration on the

reactive oxygen species (ROS) levels in the cerebral cortex (a) and

hippocampus (b) of the control, EPA-treated, and TAK-085-treated

rats. Data are presented as the mean ± SEM. (shaded square),

Control rats (n = 11); (open squre), EPA-treated rats (n = 11); (filled

square), TAK-085-treated rats (n = 11). Bars without a common

alphabet are significantly different at P\ 0.05. Data were analyzed

by one-way ANOVA followed by Fisher’s PLSD post hoc for

multiple comparisons
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435 spatial learning ability in normalWistar rats and significantly

436 increased corticohippocampal DHA levels [18]. This may

437 relate to the fact that 14C-labeled EPA levels in the rat brain

438 decreases time dependently beginning 1 h after its oral

439 administration, whereas those of [14C]DHA, a metabolite of

440 EPA, increase time dependently [26], indicating that neu-

441 ronally available EPA is continuously being subjected to

442 conversion into DHA. Despite the increases in the levels of

443 EPA in the plasma and/or brains of EPA-treated rats,

444 unfortunately, SHR-cp rats failed to demonstrate improve-

445 ments of spatial memory (Fig. 1a). This discrepancy may be

446 resulted from the fact that we used metabolic syndrome

447 model rats instead of normal rats.

448 \Dietary EPA and DHA were recently claimed to affect

449 biological activities differently. A meta-analysis of clinical

450 trials revealed that EPA rather than DHA ameliorates

451 depression, presumably by the peripheral anti-inflammatory

452 effect of EPA [27]. EPA rather than DHA appears to be more

453 effective in ameliorating attention/deficit hyperactivity dis-

454 order [28]. Age-related decreases in neuronal inflammation

455 are overcome by supplementation with EPA [29]. Very

456 recently, itwas reported thatDHA,but notEPA, reduces early

457 inflammatory responses following spinal cord injury in rats

458[30].DHA-induced alterations in bilayer acylchain properties

459and functions such as phase behavior, elastic compressibility,

460ion permeability, fusion, flip-flop, and resident protein func-

461tions and enzyme activities underlie its pleiotropic salutary

462effects [31]. Consistent with the aforementioned reports,

463DHA-induced changes in neuronal membrane properties are

464correlated with memory-related learning ability [32]. More-

465over, long-term DHA administration positively affects vas-

466cular biology [33, 34]. EPA and DHA have different

467metabolic and physiological effects in humans. From these

468reports, it must be distinguished whether combined treatment

469with EPA andDHAor individual administration of each fatty

470acid provides greater benefits [35]. TAK-085-treated SHR-cp

471rats displayed improved performances relative to that of

472control SHR-cp rats at most of the blocks (Fig. 1a). In con-

473trast, nodifferenceswere foundbetween the control andEPA-

474treated SHR-cp rats (Fig. 1a), whereas EPA significantly

475ameliorated the spatial memory of normal and Ab1–40-

476infused Alzheimer’s disease model rats [18]. Therefore, the

477sensitivity of rats to EPA administrationmay be related to the

478discrepancies of the outcome of EPA administration.

479Dietary n-3 PUFA deprivation, particularly that of

480DHA, decreases the levels of BDNF, which increases

Table 3 Plasma fatty acid profiles

Control (n = 11) TAK-085 (n = 11) EPA (n = 11)

Palmitic acid C16:0 1,036 ± 61 1,047 ± 87 877 ± 64

Stearic acid C18:0 359 ± 13a 299 ± 17b 257 ± 14b

Oleic acid C18:1(n-9) 1,232 ± 76 1,181 ± 114 947 ± 86

Linoleic acid C18:2(n-6) 596 ± 46 717 ± 56 601 ± 48.6

Linolenic acid C18:3(n-3) 13.8 ± 1.6 18.8 ± 2.0 15.9 ± 1.4

Arachidonic acid C20:4(n-6) 1,146 ± 50a 644 ± 36b 528 ± 34b

Eicosapentaenoic acid C20:5(n-3) 22.8 ± 1.7c 118 ± 5.3b 158 ± 11.4a

Docosapentaenoic acid C22:5(n-3) 44.7 ± 3.9c 70.8 ± 6.2b 102.2 ± 9.2a

Docosahexaenoic acid C22:6(n-3) 49.0 ± 3.2c 237 ± 20.6a 81.0 ± 6.7b

C22:6(n-3)/C20:4(n-6) 0.04 ± 0.00c 0.35 ± 0.03a 0.14 ± 0.01b

The fatty acid values are expressed as lg/mL; values are mean ± SEM; Means in a row with superscripts without a common alphabet differ at

P\ 0.05

Table 4 Major fatty acid levels

of the cerebral cortex and

hippocampus

The fatty acid values are

expressed as lg/mg protein;

values are mean ± SEM;

Means in a row with

superscripts without a common

alphabet differ at P\ 0.05

Control (n = 11) TAK-085 (n = 11) EPA (n = 11)

Cerebral cortex

Arachidonic acid C20:4(n-6) 28.45 ± 1.98 27.76 ± 2.74 30.28 ± 4.54

Eicosapentaenoic acid C20:5(n-3) 0.14 ± 0.01b 0.30 ± 0.05a 0.34 ± 0.06a

Docosahexaenoic acid C22:6(n-3) 43.24 ± 2.45b 54.5 ± 5.96a 53.27 ± 7.11a

C22:6(n-3)/C20:4(n-6) 1.42 ± 0.04c 1.81 ± 0.05a 1.66 ± 0.04b

Hippocampus

Arachidonic acid C20:4(n-6) 39.69 ± 3.63 35.07 ± 4.73 41.04 ± 5.82

Eicosapentaenoic acid C20:5(n-3) 0.27 ± 0.03b 0.37 ± 0.05b 0.50 ± 0.05a

Docosahexaenoic acid C22:6(n-3) 46.12 ± 3.58 49.0 ± 5.84 52.84 ± 6.48

C22:6(n-3)/C20:4(n-6) 1.10 ± 0.07b 1.32 ± 0.07a 1.19 ± 0.04a,b
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481 neuroplasticity and cell survival [36, 37], in the frontal

482 cortex of rats [38]. BDNF is implicated in the pathophys-

483 iology of several neuropsychiatric disorders [39] and

484 reductions in the BDNF levels in the hippocampus impair

485 learning and memory in animals. These findings led us to

486 investigate the influences of TAK-085 and EPA on the

487 BDNF levels in the corticohippocampal regions of the

488 SHR-cp rats. In this study, the BDNF levels were signifi-

489 cantly increased in both the cerebral cortex and hippo-

490 campus of TAK-085-treated rats (Fig. 2). This appears

491 consistent with the findings of increased levels of BDNF in

492 the DHA-treated rats [38]. It can be speculated that the

493 ameliorative effect of TAK-085 on cognitive learning

494 ability is related to the increased BDNF levels in the brains

495 of the TAk-085-treated rats. More importantly, the DHA/

496 AA molar ratio, which is positively correlated with the

497 spatial memory of rats [13–15], was increased significantly

498 in both the cerebral cortex and hippocampus of the TAK-

499 085-treated rats (Table 4). Thus, consistent with our pre-

500 vious reports, it is again postulated that the DHA/AA molar

501ratio is positively correlated with both the BDNF levels and

502the learning ability (the reciprocal of RME is memory) in

503the SHR-cp rats (Fig. 5). BDNF acts as a memory molecule

504in that it increases long-term potentiation (LTP) [40],

505neurochemical substrate and foundation of synaptic plas-

506ticity, and memory formation [41]. Administration of DHA

507to the n-3PUFA-deprived rats enhances the learning ability

508[13–15, 42–44], and prevents cognitive declines [14, 15,

50932], probably by reversing synaptic impairments such as

510those in LTP [45, 46], and stimulating in vitro and in vivo

511neurogenesis [47, 48], and c-fos activation [42].

512Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) reduces oxidative stress

513[14, 15, 49, 50]. ROS-induced traumatic brain injury is

514associated with reduction in the BDNF levels [51]. Hou

515et al. [52] reported that oral administration of hydrogen-

516rich water improves BDNF attenuation-related cognitive

517deficits. Dietary DHA increases the BDNF levels with

518concomitant improvement in traumatic brain injury-

519induced water maze memory deterioration and oxidative

520stress) [53]. These reports all corroborate our speculation

(A) (B)

(C) (D)

Fig. 5 Correlation between the learning ability and the BDNF levels

and the DHA/AA molar ratio in cortical (Fig. 5a, b) and hippocampal

(Fig. 5c, d) tissues. The number of RMEs in block 7 shown in Fig. 1

was used as an indicator of learning ability. Data were analyzed by

simple regression analysis. (filled circle), Control rats (n = 11); (filled

triangle), TAK-085-treated rats (n = 11); (open square), EPA-treated

rats (n = 11)
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521 that the TAK-085-induced increases in the BDNF levels

522 might be achieved, at least partially, through the inhibitory

523 effect of DHA of TAK-085 on oxidative stress. TAK-085

524 supplementation reduced the elevated LPO and ROS levels

525 in the SHR-cp rats (Figs. 2, 3). It is thus conceivable that

526 the potential antioxidant action of DHA in the TAK-085-

527 treated rats occurs through mechanisms that maintain

528 synaptic plasticity and increase memory ability. In other

529 words, TAK-085 counteracted the elevated LPO/ROS

530 levels with subsequent effects on BDNF-mediated effects

531 on synaptic plasticity and cognition.

532 Moreover, long-term EPA administration has a neuro-

533 protective effect on the modulation of rat hippocampal

534 synaptic plasticity by both its capacity to increase brain

535 DHA levels and its direct effects on neurons and glial

536 cells [17]. Thus, it is suggested that TAK-085 is more

537 effective than DHA or EPA alone for preventing meta-

538 bolic syndrome- and/or age-related cognitive decline.

539 Finally, n-3 PUFA-induced improvements in memory and

540 learning are believed to be underpinned by various fac-

541 tors, including antioxidative effects, stimulation of hip-

542 pocampal neurogenesis, and modulation of neuronal

543 signaling pathways. The present experiments may provide

544 such novel evidence that the beneficial effects of DHA on

545 cognitive impairment in rats with metabolic syndrome is

546 associated with the restoration of molecular systems,

547 including BDNF, which regulates synaptic plasticity to

548 enhance memory. Irrespective of the mechanism(s), this

549 study demonstrated that TAK-085 containing EPA and

550 DHA displayed more beneficial effects on the spatial

551 learning ability of rats with metabolic syndrome than EPA

552 alone.

553 In summary, TAK-085 significantly improved reference

554 memory-related learning ability in SHR-cp rats. The ben-

555 eficial effects of TAK-085 supplementation, particularly in

556 the brains of SHR-cp rats, might be attributable to DHA,

557 which was transformed from its precursor EPA and

558 obtained from dietary sources. This possibility is supported

559 by the fact that EPA is absent from the brain or present in

560 small amounts. To more greatly affect and/or strongly

561 correlate with the functions of neurons and related neuro-

562 behavioral aspects of rats, EPA must be physically present

563 in the brain: we believe that at least partially, all the effects

564 of EPA administration on brain function must be because

565 of its metabolite DHA. Further studies are essential, par-

566 ticularly to evaluate the effects of EPA versus DHA by

567 studying all of their possible active metabolites.

568 Acknowledgments The authors would like to thank Kazuki Kubo
569 and Ryuichi Tozawa in Takeda Pharmaceutical Companies for their
570 assistance in preparing this manuscript. This work was supported in
571 part by a Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (C) from the Ministry
572 of Education Culture, Sports, Science and Technology, Japan
573 (23500955, M.H.).

574Open Access This article is distributed under the terms of the
575Creative Commons Attribution License which permits any use, dis-
576tribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original
577author(s) and the source are credited.

578

579References

5801. Yaffe K, Haan M, Blackwell T, Cherkasova E, Whitmer RA,
581West N (2007) Metabolic syndrome and cognitive decline in
582elderly Latinos: findings from the Sacramento Are Latino Study
583of Aging study. J Am Geriatr Soc 55:758–762
5842. Komulainen P, Lakka TA, Kivipelto M, Hassinen M, Helkala EL,
585Haapala I, Nissinen A, Rauramaa R (2007) Metabolic syndrome
586and cognitive function: a population-based follow- up study in
587elderly women. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 23(29–34):2007
5883. Vanhanen M, Koivisto K, Moilanen L, Helkala EL, Hänninen T,
589Soininen H, Kervinen K, Kesäniemi YA, Laakso M, Kuusisto J
590(2006) Association of metabolic syndrome with Alzheimer dis-
591ease: a population-based study. Neurology 67:843–847
5924. Raffaitin C,GinH,Empana JP,HelmerC,Berr C, TzourioC, Portet
593F, Dartigues JF, Alperovitch A, Barberger-Gateau P (2009) Met-
594abolic syndrome and risk for incident Alzheimer’s disease or vas-
595cular dementia: the three-city study. Diabetes Care 32:169–174
5965. Peters R (2009) The prevention of dementia. Int J Geriatr Psy-
597chiatry 24:452–458
5986. Panza F, D’Introno A, Colacicco AM, Capurso C, Capurso S,
599Kehoe PG, Capurso A, Solfrizzi V (2004) Vascular genetic fac-
600tors and human longevity. Mech Ageing Dev 125:169–178
6017. Solfrizzi V, Capurso C, D’Introno A, Colacicco AM, Santamato
602A, Ranieri M, Fiore P, Capurso A, Panza F (2008) Lifestyle-
603related factors in predementia and dementia syndromes. Expert
604Rev Neurother 8:133–158
6058. van Gelder BM, Tijhuis M, Kalmijn S, Kromhout D (2007) Fish
606consumption, n-3 fatty acids, and subsequent 5-y cognitive
607decline in elderly men: the Zutphen Elderly Study. Am J Clin
608Nutr 85:1142–1147
6099. Solfrizzi V, Scafato E, Capurso C, D’Introno A, Colacicco AM,
610Frisardi V, Vendemiale G, Baldereschi M, Crepaldi G, Di Carlo
611A, Galluzzo L, Gandin C, Inzitari D, Maggi S, Capurso A, Panza
612F (2010) Italian longitudinal study on ageing working group.
613Metabolic syndrome and the risk of vascular dementia: the italian
614longitudinal study on ageing. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry
61581:433–440
61610. Hashimoto M, Yamashita K, Kato S, Tamai T, Tanabe Y, Mitarai
617M, Matsumoto I, Ohno M (2012) Beneficial effects of daily
618dietary omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation on
619age-related cognitive decline in elderly Japanese with very mild
620dementia: a 2-year randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled
621trial. J Aging Res Clin Pract 1:193–201
62211. Dobbing J, Sands J (1979) Comparative aspects of the brain
623growth spurt. Early Hum Dev 3:79–83
62412. Bazan NG, Molina MF, Gordon WC (2011) Docosahexaenoic
625acid signalolipidomics in nutrition: significance in aging, neuro-
626inflammation, macular degeneration, Alzheimer’s, and other
627neurodegenerative diseases. Annu Rev Nutr 31:321–351
62813. Gamoh S, HashimotoM, Sugioka K, Hossain SM, Hata N, Misawa
629Y,Masumura S (1999) Chronic administration of docosahexaenoic
630acid improves reference memory-related learning ability in young
631rats. Neuroscience 93:237–241
63214. Hashimoto M, Hossain S, Shimada T, Sugioka K, Yamasaki H,
633Fujii Y, Ishibashi Y, Oka J-I, Shido O (2002) Docosahexaenoic
634acid provides protection from impairment of learning ability in
635Alzheimer’s disease model rats. J Neurochem 81:1084–1091

Neurochem Res

123
Journal : Large 11064 Dispatch : 2-8-2013 Pages : 12

Article No. : 1121
h LE h TYPESET

MS Code : h CP h DISK4 4

A
u

th
o

r
 P

r
o

o
f



U
N
C
O
R
R
E
C
T
E
D
P
R
O
O
F

636 15. Hashimoto M, Tanabe Y, Fujii Y, Kikuta T, Shibata H, Shido O
637 (2005) Chronic administration of docosahexaenoic acid amelio-
638 rates the impairment of spatial cognition learning ability in
639 amyloid beta-infused rats. J Nutr 135:549–555
640 16. Mills JD, Hadley K, Bailes JE (2011) Dietary supplementation
641 with the omega-3 fatty acid docosahexaenoic acid in traumatic
642 brain injury. Neurosurgery 68:474–481
643 17. Kawashima A, Harada T, Kami H, Yano T, Imada K, Mizuguchi
644 K (2010) Effects of eicosapentaenoic acid on synaptic plasticity,
645 fatty acid profile and phosphoinositide 3-kinase signaling in rat
646 hippocampus and differentiated PC12 cells. J Nutr Biochem
647 21:268–277
648 18. Hashimoto M, Hossain S, Tanabe Y, Kawashima A, Harada T,
649 Yano T, Mizuguchi K, Shido O (2009) The protective effect of
650 dietary eicosapentaenoic acid against impairment of spatial cog-
651 nition learning ability in rats infused with amyloid beta(1-40).
652 J Nutr Biochem 20:965–973
653 19. Wyss JM, Fisk G, Groen TV (1992) Impaired learning and
654 memory in mature spontaneously hypertensive rats. Brain Res
655 592:135–140
656 20. Mori S, Kato M, Fujishima M (1995) Impaired maze learning and
657 cerebral glucose utilization in aged hypertensive rats. Hyperten-
658 sion 25:545–553
659 21. Gattu M, Pauly JR, Boss KL, Summers JB, Buccafusco JJ (1997)
660 Cognitive impairment in spontaneously hypertensive rats: role of
661 central nicotinic receptors I. Brain Res 771:89–103
662 22. Nangaku M, Izuhara Y, Usuda N, Inagi R, Shibata T, Sugiyama
663 S, Kurokawa K, van Ypersele de Strihou C, Miyata T (2005) In a
664 type 2 diabetic nephropathy rat model, the improvement of
665 obesity by a low calorie diet reduces oxidative/carbonyl stress
666 and prevents diabetic nephropathy. Nephrol Dial Transplant
667 20:2661–2669
668 23. Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ (2005) The metabolic syn-
669 drome. Lancet 365:1415–1428
670 24. Lepage G, Roy CC (1986) Direct transesterification of all classes
671 of lipids in a one-step reaction. Lipid Res 27:114–120
672 25. Lowry OH, Rosebrough NJ, Farr AL, Randall RJ (1951) Protein
673 measurementwith theFolin phenol reagent. JBiolChem193:265–275
674 26. Ishiguro J, Tada T, Ogihara T, Murakami K, Kunihiro Y (1987)
675 Studies on the metabolic disposition of ethyl eicosapentaenoate
676 (EPA-E) in rats and dogs. Drug Metabol Dispos 2:683–702
677 27. Martins JG, Bentsen H, Puri BK (2012) EPA in major depressive
678 disorder: eicosapentaenoic acid appears to be the key omega 3
679 fatty acid component associated with efficacy in major depressive
680 disorder: a critique of Bloch and Hannestad and updated meta-
681 analysis. Mol Psychiatry 17:1144–1149
682 28. Bloch MH, Qawasmi A (2011) Omega-3 fatty acid supplemen-
683 tation for the treatment of children with attention-deficit/hyper-
684 activity disorder symptomatology: systematic review and meta-
685 analysis. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 50:991–1000
686 29. Lynch AM, Loane DJ, Minogue AM, Clarke RM, Kilroy D, Nally
687 RE, Roche OJ, O’Connell F, Lynch MA (2007) Eicosapentaenoic
688 acid confers neuroprotection in the amyloid-beta challenged aged
689 hippocampus. Neurobiol Aging 28:845–855
690 30. Hall JC, Priestley JV, Perry VH, Michael-Titus AT (2012)
691 Docosahexaenoic acid, but not eicosapentaenoic acid, reduces the
692 early inflammatory response following compression spinal cord
693 injury in the rat. J Neurochem 121:738–750
694 31. Chapkin RS, Wang N, Fan YY, Lupton JR, Prior IA (2008)
695 Docosahexaenoic acid alters the size and distribution of cell
696 surface microdomains. Biochim Biophys Acta 1778:466–471
697 32. Hashimoto M, Hossain S, Agdul H, Shido O (2005) Docosa-
698 hexaenoic acid-induced amelioration on impairment of memory
699 learning in amyloid beta-infused rats relates to the decreases of
700 amyloid beta and cholesterol levels in detergent-insoluble mem-
701 brane fractions. Biochim Biophys Acta 1738:91–98

70233. Hashimoto M, Shinozuka K, Gamoh S, Tanabe Y, Hossain MS,
703Kwon YM, Hata N, Misawa Y, Kunitomo M, Masumura S (1999)
704The hypotensive effect of docosahexaenoic acid is associated
705with the enhanced release of ATP from the caudal artery of aged
706rats. J Nutr 129:70–76
70734. Mori TA, Watts GF, Burke V, Hilme E, Puddey IB, Beilin LJ
708(2000) Differential effects of eicosapentaenoic acid and docosa-
709hexaenoic acid on vascular reactivity of the forearm microcir-
710culation in hyperlipidemic, overweight men. Circulation
711102:1264–1269
71235. Mozaffarian D, Wu JH (2012) (n-3) fatty acids and cardiovas-
713cular health: are effects of EPA and DHA shared or comple-
714mentary? J Nutr 142:614S–625S
71536. Ghosh A, Carnahan J, Greenberg ME (1994) Requirement for
716BDNF in activity-dependent survival of cortical neurons. Science
717263:1618–1623
71837. Duman RS (2002) Pathophysiology of depression: the concept of
719synaptic plasticity (2002). Eur Psychia 17(Suppl 3):306–310
72038. Rao JS, Ertley RN, Lee HJ, DeMar JC Jr, Arnold JT, Rapoport SI,
721Bazinet RP (2007) n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid deprivation in
722rats decreases frontal cortex BDNF via a p38 MAPK-dependent
723mechanism. Mol Psychiatry 12:36–46
72439. Hashimoto K, Shimizu E, Iyo M (2004) Critical role of brain-
725derived neurotrophic factor in mood disorders. Brain Res Rev
72645:104–114
72740. Bliss TV, Collingridge GL (1993) A synaptic model of memory:
728long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. Nature 361:31–39
72941. Moser EI, Krobert KA, Moser MB, Morris RG (1998) Impaired
730spatial learning after saturation of long-term potentiation. Science
731281:2038–2042
73242. Tanabe Y, Hashimoto M, Sugioka K, Maruyama M, Fujii Y,
733Hagiwara R, Hara T, Hossain SM, Shido O (2004) Improvement
734of spatial cognition with dietary docosahexaenoic acid is asso-
735ciated with an increase in Fos expression in rat CA1 hippocam-
736pus. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 31:700–703
73743. Lim SY, Suzuki H (2001) Changes in maze behavior of mice
738occur after sufficient accumulation of docosahexaenoic acid in
739brain. J Nutr 131:319–324
74044. Liu S-H, Chang C-D, Chen P-H, Su J-R, Chen C–C, Chaung H-C
741(2012) Docosahexaenoic acid and phosphatidylserine supple-
742mentations improve antioxidant activities and cognitive functions
743of the developing brain on pentylenetetrazol-induced seizure
744model. Brain Res 1451:19–26
74545. McGahon BM, Martin DS, Horribon DF, Lynch MA (1999) Age-
746related changes in synaptic function: analysis of the effect of dietary
747supplementationwith omega-3 fatty acids.Neuroscience94:305–314
74846. Su HM (2010) Mechanisms of n-3 fatty acid-mediated develop-
749ment and maintenance of learning memory performance. J Nutr
750Biochem 21:364–373
75147. Kawakita E, Hashimoto M, Shido O (2006) Docosahexaenoic
752acid promotes neurogenesis in vitro and in vivo. Neuroscience
753139:991–997
75448. KatakuraM,HashimotoM,HossainS,GamohS,OkuiT,Matsuzaki
755K, Shido O (2009) Docosahexaenoic acid promotes neuronal dif-
756ferentiation by regulating basic helix-loop-helix transcription fac-
757tors and cell cycle in neural stem cells. Neuroscience 160:651–660
75849. Hossain MS, Hashimoto M, Gamoh S, Masumura S (1999)
759Antioxidative effects of docosahexaenoic acid in the cerebrum
760versus cerebellum and brainstem of aged hypercholesterolemic
761rats. J Neurochem 72:1133–1138
76250. Green P, Yavin E (1998) Mechanisms of docosahexaenoic acid
763accretion in the fetal brain. J Neurosci Res 52:129–136
76451. Wu A, Ying Z, Gomez-Pinilla F (2004) Dietary omega-3 fatty
765acids normalize BDNF levels, reduce oxidative damage, and
766counteract learning disability after traumatic brain injury in rats.
767J Neuritrauma 21:1457–1467

Neurochem Res

123
Journal : Large 11064 Dispatch : 2-8-2013 Pages : 12

Article No. : 1121
h LE h TYPESET

MS Code : h CP h DISK4 4

A
u

th
o

r
 P

r
o

o
f

M Katakura
ハイライト表示
J Lipid Res



U
N
C
O
R
R
E
C
T
E
D
P
R
O
O
F

768 52. HouZ, LuoW,SunX,HaoS, ZhangY,XuF,WangZ, LiuB (2012)
769 Hydrogen-rich saline protects against oxidative damage and cog-
770 nitive deficits after mild traumatic brain injury. Brain Res Bull
771 88:560–565

77253. Wu A, Ying Z, Gomez-Pinilla F (2011) The salutary effects of
773DHA dietary supplementation on cognition, neuroplasticity, and
774membrane homeostasis after brain trauma. J Neurotrauma
77528:2113–2122

776

Neurochem Res

123
Journal : Large 11064 Dispatch : 2-8-2013 Pages : 12

Article No. : 1121
h LE h TYPESET

MS Code : h CP h DISK4 4

A
u

th
o

r
 P

r
o

o
f



From:From:From:From: Michio Hashimoto [michio1@med.shimane-u.ac.jp] 
Sent:Sent:Sent:Sent: Friday, August 09, 2013 1:40 PM 
To:To:To:To: Spr_corrections2 
Subject:Subject:Subject:Subject: RE: FW: Proofs for your article in NEUROCHEMICAL 
RESEARCH ( 1121 ) [First Reminder] 
Dear Miss Saleem; 
 
Thank you for your rapid response for sending PDF form of my manuscript (1121). 
 
We have corrected the proofs. Please find the attached proofs. 
 
Sincerely yours, 
 
Michio Hashimoto 
 
 
 

From:From:From:From: Spr_corrections2 [mailto:Spr_corrections2@sps.co.in]  

Sent:Sent:Sent:Sent: Thursday, August 08, 2013 4:22 PM 

To:To:To:To: 片倉賢紀 

Cc:Cc:Cc:Cc: Michio Hashimoto 

Subject:Subject:Subject:Subject: RE: FW: Proofs for your article in NEUROCHEMICAL RESEARCH ( 1121 ) 
[First Reminder] 

 
Dear Author, 
 
It seems the website link is working fine now. Could you please check once again or 
otherwise, please supply your correction in the attached pdf (as mentioned below) to 
avoid delay.  
 
http://springerproof.sps.co.in:8080/oxe_v1/index.php?token=vkXtT47ZQ20de_4Et7X1
bw 
 
 
1. Please provide us the list of corrections (in a word document or via mail) with 
reference to the Author.PDF (indicate your required changes with respect to the line 
numbers). 
  
2. Alternatively, you can insert your corrections directly in the attached PDF (using 
annotation tools) and return us the PDF file by email. 
 
Many thanks for your kind understanding. 
 
Best regards, 
  
Saleem 
  
------- 
Saleem. A (Mr.) 
Springer Correction Team 

http://springerproof.sps.co.in:8080/oxe_v1/index.php?token=vkXtT47ZQ20de_4Et7X1bw
http://springerproof.sps.co.in:8080/oxe_v1/index.php?token=vkXtT47ZQ20de_4Et7X1bw


E-mail: spr_corrections2@sps.co.in 
Fax: +91-7305880700 (India) 
 
-----Original Message----- 

From: 片倉賢紀 [mailto:katakura@med.shimane-u.ac.jp]  

Sent: Thursday, August 08, 2013 9:01 AM 
To: Spr_corrections2 
Cc: Michio Hashimoto 
Subject: Re: FW: Proofs for your article in NEUROCHEMICAL RESEARCH ( 1121 ) 
[First Reminder] 
 
Dear Springer Correction Team, 
 
Thank you for your information. 
 
However, we did not find the mail for proof. We have received the 
information about acceptance of our manuscript. 
We also try to connect the page proofs via link that was indicated in 
your mail, but we could not. 
Could you please send us the link for the page proofs again? 
 
Kind Regards, 
 
Michio Hashimoto 
 
(2013/08/08 12:04), Michio Hashimoto wrote: 
> -----Original Message----- 
> From: Spr_corrections2@sps.co.in [mailto:Spr_corrections2@sps.co.in]  
> Sent: Thursday, August 08, 2013 11:46 AM 
> To: michio1@med.shimane-u.ac.jp 
> Subject: Proofs for your article in NEUROCHEMICAL RESEARCH ( 1121 ) [First 
> Reminder] 
> 
> Dear Author, 
> 
> The message below was sent to you several days ago but we have not yet 
> received your corrections. 
> Please return your proof as soon as possible so as not to delay the 
> publication of your article. 
> 
> Yours sincerely, 
> Springer Corrections Team 
> 
> PS: This is an auto reminder generated 72 hours after you have received 
> proofs for corrections. Keeping in mind the global time difference, you may 
> receive reminders even after you have sent in your corrections. If you 
> already have sent us the necessary corrections, kindly ignore this email. 
> 
> Article Title: PRESCRIPTION N-3 FATTY ACIDS, BUT NOT 
EICOSAPENTAENOIC ACID 
> ALONE, IMPROVE REFERENCE MEMORY-RELATED LEARNING ABILITY BY 
INCREASING 
> BRAIN-DERIVED... 
> Article DOI: 10.1007/s11064-013-1121-1 
> 

mailto:michio1@med.shimane-u.ac.jp
mailto:Spr_corrections2@sps.co.in
mailto:Spr_corrections2@sps.co.in
mailto:katakura@med.shimane-u.ac.jp
mailto:spr_corrections2@sps.co.in


> 
> Dear Author, 
> 
> We are pleased to inform you that your paper is nearing publication. The 
> page proofs are available at: 
> 
> 
http://springerproof.sps.co.in:8080/oxe_v1/index.php?token=vkXtT47ZQ20de_4Et7X1
bw 
 
> 
> The URL is valid only until your paper is published online. It is for proof 
> purposes only and may not be used by third parties. 
> 
> The proof shows the paper as it will appear later in print except that:  
> 
>          The pages are not numbered but the lines are, to ease reference to 
> any passage to be corrected. 
>          This proof has been optimized for online presentation. 
>         This article will appear in Springer's Open Choice program and will 
> be made available with full open access. 
> 
> You can help us facilitate rapid publication by returning the corrected 
> proof of this paper within 2 working days. Please first read about the proof 
> procedure to learn how to proceed and also to obtain information about 
> online publication. 
> 
> Please ensure you fill out your response to the AUTHOR QUERIES raised (if 
> any) during the process of typesetting and return this form along with your 
> corrections. Without your response to these queries, we may not be able to 
> continue with the processing of your article for Online Publication. 
> 
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
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